IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**SCA EFiled: Feb 07 2024
09:20PM EST
Transaction ID 71985324**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

Supreme Court No.: 23-535
Circuit Court Case Nos. 22-F-234; 23-F-150

Cabell County, West Virginia

RANDY C. CAIN,

Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Robert C. Catlett
W.Va. Bar No.: 8522
Robert C. Catlett Law Office
P.O. Box 572
Wellsburg, WV 26070
304-374-3676
RC@Catlettlawoffice.net

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

At Petitioner's trial the alleged victim and sole eyewitness testified by deposition and did not testify that Petitioner used a firearm during an alleged assault and that to her memory she never saw Petitioner with a gun. The state presented testimony about out of court statements made by the alleged victim under the pretense that they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

- 1) Did the trial court commit reversible error in admitting these statements?
- 2) If not, did the trial court commit reversible error by not granting the defense request for a limiting instruction to the jury to not consider this testimony for the truth of the matter asserted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner appeals his convictions for "Use or Presentment of a firearm during the commission of a felony" and "Wanton Endangerment" as the use of a firearm is an element of both charges and the only evidence presented to the jury as to the use of a firearm during the crime was hearsay testimony and the trial court refused to give an instruction to the jury to not consider that testimony for the truth of the matter asserted.

Petitioner was indicted by the September, 2022 term of the Cabell County grand jury for "Malicious Assault," "Use or Presentment of a firearm during the commission of a felony," "Domestic Battery," "Unlawful Restraint," Wanton Endangerment," and "Person prohibited from possessing a firearm."¹ These charges originated from a March, 2022 incident where Petitioner

¹ A.R. 3

was accused of assaulting his mother, Brenda McClellan, at their home.² Ms. McClellan and Petitioner were the only persons present during these events.

Ms. McClellan made out of court statements that Petitioner had during this incident kicked her in the shins with steel toed boots and had hit her in the head with a handgun.³ The Petitioner filed a motion in limine to preclude any statements made by the victim other than her evidentiary deposition.⁴ The court the morning of trial ultimately ruled that only the parts of a recorded statement consistent with McClellan's deposition testimony would be admissible.⁵ The state did not use that recorded statement.⁶

The alleged victim, Ms. McClellan was in poor health and testified via evidentiary deposition.⁷ During that deposition testimony Ms. McClellan testified that Petitioner kicked her in the shins with steel-toed boots and hit her with a small bat-like object and not a gun:

A: He -- he hit me.

Q: And what else? Let me ask you this. Did he use any objects when he hit you?

A: Yes.

Q: What did he use?

A: Steel-toed boots. He kicked my legs.

Q: Did he use any other objects?

A: He used a little tiny thing, like a bat that he hit me on the back.⁸

She later claimed not remembering the presence of guns or use of a gun:

Q: Do you remember if there were any guns in the house?

A: Any what?

Q: Any guns in the house?

A: I don't know of any that there was.

Q: Do you remember if there was ever a gun shot in the house?

² A.R. 3

³ A.R. 490

⁴ A.R. 490

⁵ A.R. 12

⁶ A.R. 12

⁷ A.R. 504

⁸ A.R. 513

A: I'm not sure about that. · I don't remember that.⁹

The state did not use prior statements for impeachment or to refresh her memory about firearms and the subject wasn't again raised.¹⁰

At trial, the state submitted evidence that there were firearms found in the home.¹¹ Also, that there was a hole in a television set that a state witness opined was caused by a firearm.¹² There was no evidence as to the circumstances of the bullet hole in the TV set, just that there was a hole and the officer was of the opinion the hole was caused by a bullet but on cross examination allowed that he had no training and it could have been caused by a drill.¹³

There were two witnesses who gave hearsay testimony about Ms. McClellan's out of court statements. The first was with the state's first witness, Anita Vasquez. During her testimony Ms. Vasquez eventually was asked about an out of court statement from the victim.¹⁴ The state claimed this testimony was for purposes other than to establish the truth of the matter asserted:

A. When she called me and asked me to get the police and come get her, yeah, I was concerned.

Q. And what -- what else in that message made you concerned?

MR. WALL: Your Honor, I'm going to object. Again, this is calling for hearsay.

MS. SAMUELS: It's the effect it had on the listener and why she called 911.

THE COURT: So far I'll allow what she said. I'll allow her to answer the question.¹⁵

Ms. Vasquez's answers did not involve a firearm until several questions later:

Q. Can you tell me what this is a photograph of?

A. My sister's ear. Behind her ear. She said he hit her in the head with a gun.¹⁶

...

⁹ A.R. 513-4

¹⁰ A.R. 504 et seq.

¹¹ A.R. 317 et seq.

¹² A.R. 342-3

¹³ A.R. 343; A.R. 355

¹⁴ A.R. 174

¹⁵ A.R. 174

¹⁶ A.R. 179

Q. Tell me what we're seeing.

A. That is my sister, and that is behind her ear where she said he --

MR. WALL: I'm going to object again, your Honor. I feel like this is calling for hearsay.

THE WITNESS: She told the police the same thing.

THE COURT: Well, she's identified what it is. I'm going to sustain the objection to anything further as to what she was told.¹⁷

...

Q. Can you tell me what we're publishing to the jury? What is that a picture of?

A. It's a picture of her shoulder. She said that he hit her.

MR. WALL: I'll object again, your Honor. May we approach?

THE COURT: You may.

(The following proceedings were held at the bar outside of the hearing of the jury with all counsel and the defendant present.)

MR. WALL: I think every bit of her testimony as to how she sustained these injuries is all hearsay. She can testify to the fact that that is an injury, but she doesn't know how it occurred. It's all hearsay.

THE COURT: Yeah. I'm not going to let her go on with describing what was told to her on every occasion. I mean, these pictures would had to have been shown to Ms. McClellan and –

MS. SAMUELS: We did show her -- some of the pictures were shown to her.

THE COURT: So, I mean, you'll be able to get some of that in through that, but I think her continuing to talk about what was told to her I'm not going to allow. She can just identify who it is and what she's seeing. ¹⁸

West Virginia State Trooper Dakota Render also provided hearsay testimony about the use of a firearm:

WITNESS: [W]hen we met her there, she had a voicemail from her sister essentially stating that her son had --

MR. WALL: Your Honor, I'm going to object. This calls for hearsay again.

MR. SHOUB: Your Honor, I'd offer it as effect on the listener. Let him continue a little bit.

THE COURT: I'll let him continue for now.

THE WITNESS: We listened to a voicemail from the complainant's sister that stated her son had pistol-whipped her and fired a gun in the house and that she needed the police.

¹⁷ A.R. 180

¹⁸ A.R. 181-2

MR. WALL: I'm going to object, your Honor. It's hearsay.

MR. SHOUB: I'm going on right now.¹⁹

Later during the testimony, anticipating that Trooper Render was again going to relate hearsay testimony, defense counsel objected:

MR. WALL: I'm going to object, your Honor. This calls for hearsay.

THE COURT: Response?

MS. SAMUELS: Your Honor, I mean, he's offering up his reaction for -- what she said and what his reaction was based on what she said. I think its effect on listener.

MR. WALL: He can offer her reaction, but the actual things she said, I believe, are hearsay.

THE COURT: I'm going to allow him to testify to this exchange.²⁰

At this point Trooper Render gave a detailed description of what the victim allegedly told him, including information about the use of a firearm inconsistent with the victim's testimony.²¹

At the close of the state's case defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal on the grounds of insufficiency of evidence.²² This motion was denied.²³ The defense asked for a limiting instruction²⁴ and submitted Defendant's Instruction 10 as a proposed instruction.²⁵ This instruction was refused.²⁶

Defendant was acquitted of the unlawful restraint charge and convicted on all other charges.²⁷ He was sentenced to four to ten years for malicious wounding,²⁸ six years for use of a firearm during a felony, twelve months for domestic battery, three years for wanton endangerment, and three years for prohibited person in possession of a firearm.²⁹ The malicious

¹⁹ A.R. 208-9

²⁰ A.R. 210-1

²¹ A.R. 211

²² A.R. 387-9

²³ A.R. 388-9

²⁴ A.R. 404-407

²⁵ A.R. 534

²⁶ A.R. 408

²⁷ A.R. 466

²⁸ Petitioner was subject to the Habitual Offender Act based on his prior felony.

²⁹ A.R. 501-3

wounding and use of a firearm sentences were ordered to run consecutively with all other sentences to run concurrently with all charges resulting in an effective sentence of five and one half years to sixteen years.³⁰

Defendant's motion for a new trial³¹ was denied.³²

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only evidence of use of a firearm in this case was hearsay testimony. These statements were inadmissible as irrelevant hearsay evidence; and if held admissible as not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted the trial court erred in not granting the defendant's request for a limiting instruction.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The assignments of error involve settled law and as such a Rule 19 argument is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner is appealing his convictions for "use or presentment of a firearm"³³ and "wanton endangerment."³⁴ Both of these offenses have as an element the use of a firearm. "Use or Presentment of a firearm during the commission of a felony" is self-explanatory.³⁵ "Wanton endangerment" as set out in W.Va. Code 61-7-12 requires an act with a firearm "which creates a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury to another..."³⁶ For purposes of this argument

³⁰ A.R. 501-3

³¹ A.R. 499

³² A.R. 501

³³ W.Va. Code 61-7-15a

³⁴ W.Va. Code 61-7-12

³⁵ W.Va. Code 61-7-15a

³⁶ W.Va. Code 61-7-12

these offenses can be treated identically as without the hearsay evidence the state has no evidence of any act committed with a firearm.

1) The hearsay testimony was inadmissible and its admission was not harmless:

"A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard."³⁷ Hearsay evidence is admissible if not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted.³⁸ However, the purpose for this hearsay evidence must be relevant as to a fact at issue in the case.³⁹ In *State v. Maynard* officers received an anonymous phone call implicating the defendant in a robbery.⁴⁰ The trial court allowed the officers to testify that the call implicated the defendant to show the motive or reasonableness of the officers' further investigations.⁴¹ However, "[S]ince the issue was not relevant to the prosecution, nor the defense, it was error to allow [the officers] to testify about the anonymous phone call which implicated the defendant."⁴² This error was ultimately held harmless based on there being sufficient other evidence of the defendant's identity.⁴³

In the present case there is testimony about prejudicial out of court statements elicited under the guise of establishing why the testifying witness acted as they did.⁴⁴ Similar to *Maynard*, exactly why Ms. Vasquez called the police or why Dakota Render investigated a crime was never at issue. It was a pretense to get otherwise inadmissible prejudicial testimony before a jury.

³⁷ Syllabus Point 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998)

³⁸ See Syl Pt 1, *State v. Maynard* 183 W.Va.1, 393 S.E.2d 221 (1990).

³⁹ See *Id.* at 5, 393 S.E.2d at 225.

⁴⁰ See *Id.* at 3-4, 393 S.E.2d at 223-4

⁴¹ See *Id.* at 4, 393 S.E.2d at 224.

⁴² *Id.* at 5, 393 S.E.2d at 225.

⁴³ See *Id.* at 6, 393 S.E.2d at 226.

⁴⁴ A.R. 174, 179, 208-211

Part of the state's motivation for this pretense is relevant to whether this error is harmless. There was no other evidence the state could use to show the use of a firearm, a necessary element of both the "use or presentment"⁴⁵ and "wanton endangerment"⁴⁶ charges.

Where improper evidence of a nonconstitutional nature is introduced by the State in a criminal trial, the test to determine if the error is harmless is: (1) the inadmissible evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination made as to whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) if the remaining evidence is sufficient to support the conviction, an analysis must then be made to determine whether the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury⁴⁷.

If the hearsay testimony is removed from the case the state is left with nothing showing that there was a gun used in the crime. Their only witness to the event testified there were no guns used during the crime.⁴⁸ There were firearms found at the residence⁴⁹ and there was a hole in a television set.⁵⁰ No expert testified that any of the wounds were indicative of the use of a firearm. Had the out of court statements not been made it would be unthinkable that the state would have brought a charge that the victim was struck with a gun or that a gun was fired in the residence as there is no context to support them.

2) The Trial Court erred by refusing to give a limiting instruction.

⁴⁵ W.Va. Code 61-7-15a

⁴⁶ W.Va. Code 61-7-12

⁴⁷ Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Maynard* 183 W.Va. 1, 393 S.E.2d 221 (1990) (citation omitted)

⁴⁸ A.R. 514-515

⁴⁹ A.R. 317 et seq

⁵⁰ A.R. 342-3; 355

Whether a jury instruction is legally required is a question of law subject to a de novo standard of review.⁵¹ The “precise extent and character of any specific instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion.”⁵²

If this Court finds the admission of the hearsay evidence is itself not reversible error, the trial court still erred by not instructing the jury to consider these statements only for the purpose for which they were entered into evidence. “If the court admits evidence that is admissible against a party or for a purpose — but not against another party or for another purpose — the court, on timely request, must restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly.”⁵³

The state in this case responded to hearsay objections by disclaiming the use of the testimony for the truth of the matter asserted.⁵⁴ The defense requested the jury to be instructed that the testimony be used only for the proffered purpose.⁵⁵ The trial court erred by not giving an instruction.

As there was no other appreciable evidence to establish the use of a gun the prejudice to Petitioner is obvious. Absent use of these hearsay statements there would be no factual basis on which to reach the conclusion that a firearm was used during this crime.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner’s convictions for “Use or presentment of a firearm in commission of a felony” and “Wanton endangerment” should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial for those charges..

⁵¹ See Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W.Va 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995)

⁵² *Id.*

⁵³ W.Va. R. Evid 105.

⁵⁴ A.R. 174; 208-211

⁵⁵ A.R. 404-5

The evidence used to convict Petitioner was allowed before the jury on the pretense that it wasn't being used to convict Petitioner. Either the statements were evidence showing use of a gun, in which case they were inadmissible hearsay, or they weren't used to show use of a gun and as such the jury should have been properly instructed to not take them into account when deliberating.