IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-535

SCA EFiled: Mar 25 2024
02:49PM EDT
Transaction ID 72597594

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

RANDY C. CAIN,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mark L. Garren [WVSB No. 1341]
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: MGarren@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner did not object in the circuit court when Anita Vasquez testified regarding out-of-court statements of the victim, Brenda McClellan. Petitioner has waived any hearsay objection to that testimony and any plain error analysis does not permit Petitioner to prevail on appeal. The circuit court correctly allowed Trooper Dakota Render to discuss a separate out-of-court statement from Ms. McClellon pursuant to Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. Petitioner offers no rebuttal argument or authority in the Petition. The content of Petitioner's requested jury instruction was adequately addressed in the circuit court's standard charge and jury instructions and no abuse of discretion occurred when Petitioner's proposed jury instruction was refused. Reviewing all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution, and crediting all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution, shows sufficient evidence to support the present jury verdict.

This Court should affirm.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The action of a trial court in admitting or excluding evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Brooks*, 214 W. Va. 562, 591 S.E.2d 120 (2003); *State v. Harris*, 216 W. Va. 237, 605 S.E.2d 809 (2004).

Issues arising from jury instructions have a two-part review. “As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. By contrast, the question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is *de novo*.” *State v. Hoard*, 248 W. Va. 428, 437, 889 S.E.2d 1, 10 (2023) (citing syl. pt. 1, *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996)).

ARGUMENT

I. **Out-of-court statements of the victim, Brenda McClellan, were correctly received without objection and were admissible hearsay pursuant to Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.**

A. Anita Vasquez’s testimony was received without objection.

“It is well settled law that an objection must be raised below to preserve an error or that error is waived.” *Edwin W. v. Mutter*, No. 21-0419, 2023 WL 356199, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Jan. 23, 2023) (memorandum decision); *see* syl. pt. 10, *State v. Bragg*, 140 W. Va. 585, 87 S.E.2d 689 (1955) (holding that “[a]n error in the admission of evidence not objected to by the defendant is deemed waived by him”); *State v. Larock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 315-17, 470 S.E.2d 613, 634-36 (1996) (discussing the “raise or waive” rule and the discretionary and limited application of the plain error doctrine). Because of this long-standing provision of law, this Court should find Petitioner’s claim in his first assignment of error waived.

Anita Vasquez testified that her sister, Brenda McClellan, told her at the scene that Petitioner had struck her in the head with a pistol. App. 179-80. Petitioner admits that he did not object to the out-of-court statement which he now challenges as error. App. 179, 404-06. A photograph of the victim’s head wound was authenticated by Ms. Vasquez, admitted into evidence, and published to the jury without objection. App. 179. Rule 103(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence requires that a party claiming error in a ruling to admit evidence must timely object to the evidence or move to strike the evidence. W. Va. R. Evid. 103(a). Petitioner did neither. This

Court has advised litigants that the procedural requirements of Rule 103(a) are mandatory. *Reed v. Wimmer*, 195 W. Va. 199, 204 n.4, 465 S.E.2d 199, 204 n.4 (1995).

Here, it was not until after the photograph was published to the jury that Petitioner interposed a hearsay objection to the next question and answer by Ms. Vasquez. App. 180. The circuit court sustained that objection but Petitioner did not move to strike Ms. Vasquez's prior testimony. App. 180. This failure prevents Petitioner from succeeding on appeal. This Court has “recognize[d] that there are situations in which it is impossible to object to an improper question before the witness responds” but “when this situation occurs the trial attorney must object as soon as possible and move to strike the witness’s response to the improper question.” *Voelker v. Frederick Bus. Props. Co.*, 195 W. Va. 246, 255, 465 S.E.2d 246, 255 (1995) (citing 1 FRANKLIN D. CLECKLEY, HANDBOOK ON EVIDENCE FOR WEST VIRGINIA LAWYERS § 1-7(D) (3d. ed. 1994)).¹ “If the trial attorney fails to move to strike, then the ruling of the trial judge is not preserved for appellate review.” *Id.* In *Voelker*, the defendant’s counsel made an objection to certain testimony but failed to move to strike the testimony. This Court ruled the defendant failed to preserve the issue for appellate review. *Id.* Such is the case here.

¹ “After the question is answered, an objection alone is insufficient unless accompanied by a motion to strike the answer.” *Id.*

If, the trial court having responded by so instructing the jury, the objector should still consider that the interests of his client have been irremediably prejudiced and that the actions of the trial court, although favorable, have not been effective in removing from the minds of the jury the prejudicial effect of the objectionable matter, then a motion must be made at the time for a mistrial...Timely objections, followed by appropriate and timely motions, are necessary to preserve such points on appeal.

Reed, 195 W. Va. at 204 n.4, 465 S.E.2d at 204 n.4 (citing *Anderson v. Jaeger*, 317 So.2d 902, 906-07 (Miss. 1975)).

It is undisputed that Petitioner did not object, on any basis, to Ms. Vasquez's testimony involving Ms. McClellan's statement that Petitioner hit her on the head with a gun and fired a shot in the home. App. 179-180, 404-06. Thereafter, Petitioner objected to similar testimony. App. 180, 406. Petitioner also never requested the circuit court to strike that initial hearsay testimony of Ms. Vasquez. W. Va. R. Evid. 103(a)(1)(A). In fact, the circuit court was not requested to do anything. An error in the admission of evidence not objected to by the defendant is deemed waived by him. *Edwin W.*, 2023 WL 356199, at *2 (quoting syl. pt. 10, *Bragg*, 140 W. Va. 585, 87 S.E.2d 689). When a defendant fails to object to inadmissible evidence at trial, he forfeits the right to assign error on appeal and the appellate court may review arguments only for plain error. *State v. Marple*, 197 W. Va. 47, 51, 475 S.E.2d 47, 51 (1996). Therefore, Petitioner has waived any objection to the out-of-court statement of Ms. McClellan and may not now challenge that hearsay testimony unless he invokes the plain error rule. *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 18, 459 S.E.2d 114, 129 (1995).

B. Petitioner cannot succeed even if this Court reviews his argument under plain error.

This Court discussed the “raise or waive” rule in *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613, and explained why issues not preserved below “do not merit serious appellate consideration,” *id.* at 316, 470 S.E.2d at 635. In *LaRock*, the Court noted that an unpreserved error can only be reviewed under the plain error doctrine. *Id.* “Even then, errors not seasonably brought to the attention of the trial court will justify appellate court intervention only where substantial rights are affected.” *Id.* Petitioner has not asserted plain error in the Petition. Nevertheless, should this Court choose to lift the procedural bar and review Petitioner’s hearsay contentions, it must do so under plain error.

“The ‘plain error’ doctrine grants appellate courts, in the interest of justice, the authority to notice error to which no objection has been made.” *Miller*, 194 W. Va. at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129; *see also* W. Va. R. Crim. P. 30, 52. Historically, the “plain error” doctrine authorizes the appellate court to correct only “particularly egregious errors” that seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings. *Miller*, 194 W. Va. at 18, 459 S.E. 2d at 129. “Plain error warrants reversal ‘solely in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result’” *Id.* (citing *United States v. Frady*, 456 U.S. 152, 163 n.14 (1982)). Plain error is defined as (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. *Id.*

Where a party must rely on plain error review, that party is obligated to cite plain error law and make an argument applying that law. Petitioner does not assert or argue plain error in his Petition. “An assertion of plain error on appeal pursuant to [appellate rules] requires defendant to cite authority defining the relevant standard and to apply that standard to the specific facts of the case at hand.” *State v. McMillian*, 588 S.E.2d 585 (N.C. Ct. App. 2003) (Table) (text available at 2003 WL 22704263, at *4). In the absence of such citation and argument, a plain error claim is waived. *See, e.g., State v. Davis*, No. 11-1775, 2013 WL 1501435, at *4 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Apr. 12, 2013) (memorandum decision) (“Petitioner fails to list the elements of a plain error analysis or to argue how the circuit court’s alleged failure to give a self-defense instruction comports with those elements. We find no error.”); *State v. Erin S. T.*, No. 15-1195, 2016 WL 6819049, at *12 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 18, 2016) (memorandum decision) (“On appeal, petitioner concedes that defense counsel failed to object to the admission of this evidence at the time it was presented and, in a footnote, states simply that ‘this Court would review under a plain error standard.’”) Petitioner fails to make any further argument in support of plain error or to

adequately brief the issue for review. This Court has repeatedly cautioned that, in the absence of supporting authority, it will not further review alleged errors that have not been adequately briefed. *State v. Hoke*, No. 17-0912, 2018 WL 4944414, at *4 n.3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 12, 2018) (memorandum decision) (“It should also be noted that petitioner fails to cite any authority concerning plain error, the standard for obtaining relief under this doctrine, or otherwise apply such authority to the facts of his case.”). Here, Petitioner’s omissions are fatal to his Petition and this Court should affirm the circuit court.

Importantly, Petitioner “bears the burden of persuasion” on each of the four prongs of the plain error standard including the burden of proving prejudice. *State v. Todd C.*, Nos. 21-0969 & 22-0278, 2023 WL 7179191 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 1, 2023) (memorandum decision); *see also Lowery v. United States*, 3 A.3d 1169, 1173 (D.C. 2010); *United States v. Hall*, 625 F.3d 673, 684 (10th Cir. 2010).

Assuming that an error is “plain,” the inquiry must proceed to its last step and a determination made as to whether it affects the substantial rights of the defendant. To affect substantial rights means the error was prejudicial. It must have affected the outcome of the proceedings in circuit court, and the *defendant* rather than the prosecutor bears the burden of persuasion with respect to prejudice.

Todd C., 2023 WL 7179191, at *15.

Regarding the first two prongs, Ms. Vasquez testified regarding the out-of-court statement of Ms. McClellan without objection. Petitioner’s counsel also never moved to strike the out-of-court statement nor requested a limiting instruction by the circuit court. Therefore, there was no error, plain or otherwise. Nevertheless, if Petitioner had objected to Ms. Vasquez’s testimony, the circuit court would have been correct in allowing the out-of-court statement of Ms. McClellan to be heard by the jury because, similar to the testimony of Trooper Render discussed *infra*, it met the requirements of West Virginia Rule of Evidence 803(1) and (3) and was excepted from the rule against hearsay.

Ms. McClellan's statement to Ms. Vasquez falls into the category of present sense impression under Rule 803(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. An out-of-court statement can be admitted under the "present sense impression exception" if "(1) The statement was made at the time or shortly after an event; (2) the statement describes the event; and (3) the event giving rise to the statement was within a declarant's personal knowledge." Syl. pt. 10, *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014) (citation omitted). The statement occurred almost immediately following Ms. Vasquez's arrival at the incident scene and following days of abuse and violence which Petitioner inflicted upon Ms. McClellan. Second, Ms. McClellan's statements to her sister summarized the abuse Petitioner inflicted on Ms. McClellan over a several day period. She told Ms. Vasquez that Petitioner had been abusing her for several days, kicked her on the legs with steel-toe boots, hit her with some kind of club or a bat, struck her in the head with the butt end of a pistol, and fired a shot in the home. Third, the statement of Ms. McClellan clearly describes the acts for which Petitioner was convicted and the events giving rise to the statements were within Ms. McClellan's personal knowledge as the victim of the crimes. The circuit court would have been correct to allow Ms. Vasquez's testimony of Ms. McClellan's statement to be heard by the jury because it met the requirements of West Virginia Rule of Evidence 803(1) and was not excluded by the rule against hearsay.

The circuit court could have further relied upon Rule 803(3) to permit Ms. Vasquez to testify regarding the statement of Ms. McClellan. Rule 803(3) allows the admission of hearsay if the statement represents a "then-existing . . . physical condition (such as mental feeling, pain, or bodily health." W. Va. R. Evid. 803(3). The statement of Ms. McClellon met the requirements of a statement of her physical condition because it identified her physical condition caused by the

injuries inflicted upon her by Petitioner and identified the reason she sought rescue and medical assistance from law enforcement.

Moreover, Rule 807 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence would have allowed admission of this statement. Rule 807 requires that the statement have “guarantees of trustworthiness,” be “offered as evidence of a material fact,” be “more probative. . . than any other evidence” and, if admitted, “best serve the purposes of these rules and the interests of justice.” W. Va. R. Evid. 807(a). This statement meets all four prongs. The statement was made by the victim to her sister almost immediately after Ms. McClellan’s injury; the statement is evidence of the material fact of how Ms. McClellan was injured; the statement is probative evidence; and admitting the statement serves the interests of justice. Thus, there was no error in the admission of this evidence, because had Petitioner objected, the evidence was admissible under multiple evidentiary rules.

As to the last two prongs of the plain error standard, there was no violation of Petitioner’s substantial rights, as he was permitted to defend the charges as he chose and the out-of-court statement of Ms. McClellan did not affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. As to any claim that the admission of this evidence is not harmless error, Respondent contends that the admission of this evidence was not error at all, and, thus, no harmless error analysis is necessary. Thus, Petitioner cannot succeed under the plain error test, and his sentence should be affirmed.

C. Trooper Dakota Render’s testimony was correctly excluded from the ban against hearsay pursuant to Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.

Petitioner also complains that the lower court erred in admitting certain testimony of Trooper Render regarding the use of a firearm. But, the evidence of which he complains was admitted prior to Trooper Render taking the stand, and Petitioner failed to object as noted above.

The victim's sister clearly testified that the victim was hit in the head with a gun. By the time Trooper Render took the stand, the jury already properly had this information.

Petitioner relies upon *State v. Maynard*, 183 W. Va. 1, 393 S.E.2d 221 (1990), to challenge Trooper Dakota Render's testimony regarding Ms. McClellan's out-of-court statements. Pet'r's Br. 7-8. In *Maynard*, this Court stated,

Generally, out-of-court statements made by someone other than the declarant while testifying are not admissible unless: 1) the statement is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but for some other purpose such as motive, intent, state-of-mind, identification or reasonableness of the party's action; 2) the statement is not hearsay under the rules; or 3) the statement is hearsay but falls within an exception provided for in the rules.

Maynard, 183 W. Va. at 4, 393 S.E.2d at 224 (internal citations omitted). *Maynard* does not preclude admission of this evidence.

There were three out-of-court statements of Ms. McClellan relevant to the trial: (1) the out-of-court statement contained in the voicemail recording received by Ms. Vasquez and played for Trooper Render, App. 12-13, 208-09; (2) the statement Ms. McClellan gave to Ms. Vasquez at the scene, App. 179; and (3) the statement Ms. McClellan gave to Trooper Render upon his arrival at the scene, App. 210-11. Prior to trial, pursuant to Petitioner's Motion in Limine, the circuit court ruled the voicemail recording of Ms. McClellan was hearsay and was not admissible at trial. App. 12-13. Accordingly, the State did not play any portion of the voicemail during the trial. App. 12-13. While the circuit court excluded the actual out-of-court statement contained in the voicemail recording, the circuit court allowed Trooper Render to discuss the out-of-court statements of Ms. McClellan contained in the voicemail and the statement she gave Trooper Render at the scene. App. 12-13, 208-11. The circuit court explained that the out-of-court statements were allowed to be heard by the jury pursuant to Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. App. 215, 406. In other words, Trooper Render was permitted to testify regarding Ms. McClellan's out-

of-court statements under sub-section 3 of *Maynard* because, while hearsay, the statements fell within exceptions provided for by the Rules of Evidence.

Trooper Render testified that the victim, Ms. McClellan, gave him a statement that Petitioner had been abusing her for several days, kicked her on the legs with steel-toe boots, hit her with some kind of club or a bat, hit her on the head with the butt end of a pistol and fired a shot in the home. App. 210-11. Petitioner argues the circuit court erred by allowing Trooper Render to discuss Ms. McClellan's statement under sub-section 1 of *Maynard*. Petitioner's argument is misguided because the circuit court admitted Trooper Render's testimony regarding Ms. McClellan's statements under sub-section 3 of *Maynard* explaining that, while hearsay, they fell within the exceptions contained in Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. App. 215.

Petitioner's argument that the out-of-court statements were allegedly "elicited under the guise of establishing why the testifying witness acted as they did" applies only to the voicemail recording that was never admitted into evidence or heard by the jury. App. 12-13; Pet'r's Br. 7-8. Notably, in the Petition, Petitioner offers no argument or authority challenging the circuit court's application of Rules 803(1) or (3) to admit the out-of-court statements of Ms. McClellan referenced by Trooper Render in his testimony. Accordingly, the circuit court's ruling on the admissibility of Trooper Render's testimony under Rules 803(1) and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence should be affirmed.

"It is within a trial court's discretion to admit an out-of-court statement under Rule 803(1), the present sense impression exception, of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence if: (1) The statement was made at the time or shortly after an event; (2) the statement describes the event; and

(3) the event giving rise to the statement was within a declarant's personal knowledge." Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Phillips*, 194 W. Va. 569, 461 S.E.2d 75 (1995).

Applying this exception to the facts at hand, first, both Ms. McClellan's voicemail statement and her in-person statement to Trooper Render occurred during and following days of abuse and violence which Petitioner inflicted upon her. Second, Ms. McClellan's statements summarized the abuse Petitioner inflicted on her over a multi-day period. She told Trooper Render that Petitioner had been abusing her for several days, kicked her on the legs with steel-toe boots, hit her with some kind of club or a bat, struck her in the head with the butt end of a pistol, and fired a shot in the home. Third, the statement of McClellan clearly describes the acts for which Petitioner was convicted and the events giving rise to the statements were within Ms. McClellan's personal knowledge as the victim of the crimes. The circuit court was correct to allow Trooper's testimony of Ms. McClellan's statements to be heard by the jury because they met the requirements of West Virginia Rule of Evidence 803(1) and were not excluded by the rule against hearsay.

The circuit court further relied upon Rule 803(3) to permit Trooper Render to testify regarding the statements of Ms. McClellan. App. 215.

Under Rule 803(3), a statement which is hearsay is admissible if it is "a statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind, emotion, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health)[.]" ...

Statements admissible under Rule 803(3) must relate to the state of mind existing at the time of the communication.

Phillips, 194 W. Va. at 579, 461 S.E.2d at 85.

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